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Directors’ Report

The Directors present themwr annual report on the affairs of Oty Index Limited (the "Company” or "CIL"),
together with the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2009 (the “Financial
Statements”™)

Principal activities

The pnncipal activity of the Company during the year continued to be the provision of market-making and
spread-trading services In a variety of financial products and markets The product offerings currently
include spread trading on equities, equity indices, precious and base metals, soft commodities,
exchange rates, Interest rates, exchange traded futures and options and fixed odds on equities, equity
indices, precious and base metals, soft commodities, exchange rates, mnterest rates and other financial
instruments There have not been any significant changes in the Company’s principal activities 1n the year
under review

The Company 1s authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authonty (*FSA”) The Company’s FSA
Reqgister Number s 113942, for details see www fsa gov uk/register

The Directors are not aware, at the date of this report, of any changes in the Company's activities in the
forthcoming year, although they continue to look for opportunities to grow the business, both organically and
through acquisition

The immediate parent company 1s City Index (Holdings) Limited ("CIHL™) The intermediate parent company
15 City Index Group Limited ("CIGL™) The ultimate parent company and controlling party 1s IPGL bimited
{(*IPGL") The smallest group into which the Company 1s consolidated 1s CIHL

Dwrectors

The Directors who served during the year, together with those serving at the date of this report, are as
follows

Martin Belsham Chief Executive Officer {appomnted 12 January 2009)
Simon Bird Chief Operating Officer (appointed 29 October 2008)
Arthur Gnmley (appointed 28 Apnl 2009)
Roger Hambury

Bret Woudstra Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 May 2008}
Thomas Binks (resigned 20 March 2009)
Geoffrey Chapman (resigned 31 December 2008)
Chive Cocke (resigned 17 March 2009}
Geoffrey Lott (resigned 8 July 2008)

David Morrns {resigned 3 August 2009}
Kaye Spicer {resigned 30 Novembes 2008)
Alexis Webster (resigned 30 April 2009)
Mark Whitlock (resigned 21 August 2009)

Dunng the year the Company has strengthened its management team with the appaintment of a new Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer The Board of Directors would like to
thank Clive Cooke for his contribution and hard work over the past number of years and wish him well in his
new endeavours

Results

The loss for the year after taxation amounted to £54,613,000 (2008 toss of £27,767,000) Despite these
losses, the Company expenienced a net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to £6,652,000 (2008

cash outflow of £75,920,000) as the losses were primanly non-cash impairments of receivables Additionally,
the Company saw a significant decrease n the year-end level of trade receivables The Profit and Loss Account
for the year i1s set out on page 9 and the Statement of Cash Flows on page 12

The Duectors do not recommend that any dividend be declared in respect of the year (2008 In specie
dividend of £25,000,000, being the disthbution of all of its shares n 1ts wholly owned subsidiary, IFX Markets
Inc , to City Index (Holdings) Lirited {"CIHL")

Business review

The financial year ended 31 March 2009 has been a penod of considerable change for City Index but we are
pleased to report that we ended the year in a far stronger position than we started & Dunng the year the
Company suffered substantial bad debts (net of recovenes) amounting to £20,804,000 (see Note 8 to the
Financial Statements) largely as a direct result of the impact of the recent financial ¢nsis on customers’ ability
to fund margin calls in respect of their losses from equity related trading
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Addressing the causes of bad debts and mitigating their impact has therefore been the pnncipal pnonty of the
Directors, so we are pleased to report that as a result of the steps taken to tighten our risk management
procedures and restrict the level of market and credit nsk, this penod 1s now behind us Indeed, since the
December 2008 quarter there have been no additional significant provisions for new doubtful debts The
Company 1s currently completing its roll out of a systematic approach to closing chent positions automatically
(called “auto-closeout™) Whilst giving us further protection from potential bad debts, auto-closeout has also
been well received by our clients who recognise the benefits of containing thewr own losses

Significant effort and investment continues to be made n all areas of technology, particularly in the non-FX
business platform A major equities systems upgrade was successfully released during the year, which
included a redesigned website with enhanced functionality Subsequent to the faunch of this release
considerabte resource has been directed to ymproving aspects of stabiity and performance This 1s a process
of continual improvement and the Directors beheve such investment s both necessary and smportant for the
future success of the business

The increased efficiency from the new non-FX technology systems and new internal processes has enabled the
Company to rationahse its non-FX cost base significantly Average monthly overheads between April 2009
and December 2009 were £3,500,000 per month, down from £4,500,000 per month at the start of 2008/2009
financial year The Directors are optimistic that further cost savings can be 1dentified and realised, further
improving the position of the business going forward

In summary, whilst the business had an extremely difficult trading penod in 2008/2009, with trading volumes
and average ticket sizes falling as a result of market dislocation, conditions have now stabilised with reduced
volatibty, more benign trading conditions and a healthy rebound in stock markets giving chents time to rebuild
equity and reassess their nsk appetite At the date of this report the Group has now returned to profitabiity
and the Directors are optimistic that the prior two years of poor performance are behind us

Financial review

The Company's financial position has significantly deleveraged during the year Dunng the year a borrowing
faciity of £100,000,000 was repaid, largely faciitated by the working capital rmprovements achieved by the
implementation of changes to customer trading terms and conditions reported in last year's Directors Report
This enabled the Company to move to a net cash funds posititon of £16,477,000 at the year end (2008 net
debt of £28,092,000)

In additton the Company held as detaled in Note 19 to the Financial Statements, £111,355,000 (2008
£192,427,000) n segregated chient money accounts This 15 not recognised on the balance sheet but 1s
deposited with us and can be utihsed by chents to cover subsequent position lesses or margin for new trades

The loss for the financial year of £54,613,000 {2008 loss of £27,767,000) pnmarily arose from the large bad
debts outhined earher as well as difficult trading conditions These losses have been offset by the imjection of
capital by shareholders in the form of preference shares issued for the conversion of subordinated debt The
loss for the financial year before exceptional items, depreciation, amcrhisation, interest and taxation was
£19,061,000 (2008 loss of £1,261,000) At the balance sheet date the Company had net assets of
£58,962,000 (2008 £64,585,000)

GOING CONCEern review

The Company's business activities, together with the key factors hikely to affect its future development,
profitability, cash flows, iquidity position, borrowing facilities and financial position are outhned above Note 2
of the Financial Statements sets out the basis upon which the Directors have made thewr going concern
assessment The Directors’, after making due enguines, consider there to be reasonable evidence that the
Company has sufficent resources, including support from its uftimate parent company, to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements

Principal rnisks and uncertainties

The Board 15 responsible for determining and managing the principal nsks and uncertanties of the Company
This 15 subject to periodic review, at least annually and 1s performed 1n consultation with its shareholders The
Company seeks to mitigate its nsks through the application of himits and controls, a monitoring process at
both Company and operational level, and the use of hedging instruments and insurance policies The
Company has a Risk and Credit Committee, which meets at least monthly The Company's existing nisk
management tools continue to be enhanced by the ongoing development of a real-tme nsk management
system across ali products

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company are primanily financial nsks  The pnncpal non-
financial nsk faced by the Company i1s operational nsk All of these rnisks are summansed further below

. Credit risk

Credit nsk represents the loss that the Company would incur if a chent or counterparty faled to
perform its contractual obhgations A chent credit exposure exists where a client’s net contractual
payable to the Company 15 greater than the margin or other ccllateral received by the Company
("margin deficiency”) net of any credit provisions made against the margin deficency
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A counterparty exposure exists where the Company's net contractual receivable 1s greater than the
margin or other collateral deposited by the Company with the counterparty {"excess margin®} Clients
do not normally have external credit ratings Market counterparties generally have published credit
ratings In addition to the regular credit review of counterparties and country imits, other measures
are undertaken to mitigate credit nsk including holding margin or other collateral against chient
positions A small minonty of chents are permitted to deal withun specific credit terms

The Cempany has a formal credit policy which determines the financial and experience cnteria which a
client must satisfy before being given an account which exposes the Company to credit risk, as well as
determuining the account limits which are allocated to a clent The Company also has potental credit
nsk ansing from 1ts exposure to market counterparties with which its hedges and with banks The
Company sets imits for its maximum acceptable exposure to each market counterparty and bank to
which it has credit exposure These limits are approved by the Risk and Credit Committee and are
reviewed at least every six (6) months

During the current year the Company tncurred some significant credit losses which are detailled in Note
7 and Note 8 to the Financial Statements As a conseguence of these losses the Company conbinued to
strengthen and enhance the policies, including the introduction of auto-closeout, particularly in hght of
current global market conditions

Market rnisk

Market nsk 1s the nsk of loss anising from adverse movements in the level or volatilty of market prices
Dally and intra-day margin calls are made on chents to reflect market movements affecting chent
positions The Company's chents sign a terms of business agreement, in which, under certain
carcumstances, the Company unilaterally reserves the nght to close out clent posiions  Exposure
management 15 dependent on the hquidity of the relevant markets and hedging policy These policies
include imits, or a methodology for setting imits, for every single hquid financial market in which the
Company trades, and for markets which the Directors consider to be correlated The hmits determine
the maximum net exposure ansing from chent activity and asscciated hedging During the year the
Company significantly reduced its nsk profile and increased hedging levels commensurate with market
volatility

Currency risk

The principal currencies in which the Company trades are Brtish Pounds, Euros and United States
Dollars This gives rise to currency nsk on the translation of its net current assets (mainly net funds
held on behalf of clients) together with a currency nisk on the conversion of its non-Bnitish Pounds
income into British Pounds The Company hedges this nisk to the extent it considers appropnate in the
circumstances

Interest rate nisk

The Company 1s exposed to interest rate nsk as it has net earmings on 1ts own cash deposits and those
of its clients Exposures to interest rate fluctuations are managed through floating rate instruments,
which give the Company its required interest and matunty profile Interest rate and maturity profiles
are regularly momtored n hght of current performance and the economic environment The Company
15 also exposed to interest rate nsk in the form of financing Income or expense on open positions held
with clients The financing interest rate 1s pegged to both LIBOR and overnight deposit rates The
Company manages it interest rate nsk by hedging its clients’ trades to the extent required by its risk
management policies This s generally achieved by enternng nto offsetting trades with 1ts broking
counterparties on a net exposure basis or specific nsk hmit basis

The Company's interest-bearing financial assets mature in the short-term, with matunties no longer
than one (1} year As a result, the Company 1s subject to mited exposure to fair value interest rate
risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates Excess cash of the Company Is
invested in short-term cash deposits with the term to maturity typically no longer than three (3)
months

Liquidity nsk

In the event of a significant movement 1in markets, the Company could have a short-term funding
requirement to meet its payment obligations to counterparties Any failure by the Company to meet its
payment obligations could result in market counterparties closing the Company's hedge positions,
which would have matenally adverse consequences for the Company's business The level of liquidity
required Is influenced by the level of client activity and volatility in the markets

The Cempany’s policy 1s to hold both its own and its clients’ cash reserves with a diversified range of
counterparties, each of which 1s a major clearing bank or a financial institution  Chient money 15 held
and accounted for in accordance with the FSA chient money rules The Company’s own money 1s held
almost entrely on demand, as 1t needs to be readilly avalable to meet short-term funding
requirements Segregated client cash 1s held pnmanly on demand but deposits of longer duration are
also placed where this can increase returns wittun an agreed matunty nisk profile

Regulatory capital and regulatory risk

The Company's activities are regulated in a number of junsdictions and are therefore subject to various
regulation and legislation relating to conduct of business, technology, the provision of internet services

and additionally n the United Kingdom in relation to regulatory capital This imposes extensive
reporting requirements and continuing self-assessment and appratsal
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The Company has both a Compliance Department and a Regulatory Capital Department which are
responsible for ensuring that it meets the rules of the regulators in each jurisdiction The Company
maintains close working relationships with its regulators and seeks continually to improve its operating
efficiencies and standards The compliance officers are in regular contact with the Directors and Semor
Executive Management The regulatory environment 1s constantly evolving and imposes significant
demands on the resources of the Company The Company continues to provide considerable resources
to meet the regulatory requirements

The Company 15 subject to the capital adequacy supervision requirements of the FSA and has
maintained adequate levels of capital within the Company during the year The regulatory capital
structure of the Company largely comprises share capital, preference shares and reserves (net of
intangtble assets) Capital requirements are calculated from market nsk, counterparty risk, credit nisk
and operational nsk assessments The Company has an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process ("ICAAPT) as required by the FSA for establishing the appropriate amount of requlatory capital
to be held The ICAAP gives consideration to both current and projected financial and capital positions,
and includes stress testing for adverse econom:c conditions The ICAAP 1s updated, at least annually,
to reflect changes to the Company's structure and the business environment Capital adequacy 15
monitored on an ongoing basis by Management The Company uses the standardised approach to
market risk, the simplified approach to credit and nsk and the basic indicator approach to operational
nsk At the balance sheet date the Company’s FSA regulatory capital position indicates that capital
resources represented 141% of the capital resources requirement (the “Solvency Ratio”) At
29 January 2010 the Solvency Ratio was 145%

IPGL, the Company's ulthimate parent company, is located in the European Economic Area and therefore
the FSA applies consclidated capital adequacy supervision requirements at this level  Further details
are contained n the financial statements of IPGL and Note 2 to the Financial Statements

. Operational rnisk

Operational risk, inherent in all businesses, 1s the potential for financial and reputation loss ansing from
fallures in internal controls, operational processes or the systems that support them It includes errors,
omissions, disasters and deliberate acts such as fraud The Company has polices and procedures to
mitigate operational rsk and 1s currently in the process of implementing a more comprehensive
operational nsk management framework 1n conjunction with the CIGL Group Internal Audit
Department

Internal audit

In April 2008, a CIGL Group Internal Audit Department was established to oversee the control environment of
both the CIGL Group and the Company The Department ts overseen by the CIGL Group Audit Committee,
which compnises representatives of the CIGL Group's twe (2) major sharehclders and two (2) Directors of
CIGL

Share 1ssues

Share i1ssues and other capitalisation activities of the Company are detalled in Note 25 and Note 26 to the
Financial Statements and the Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity on page 11 to the Financial
Statements

Donations

During the year chantable donations made principally to chanties in which the Company or its employees have
an interest, amounted to £14,000 (2008 £43,000) Dunng the year the Company made a £5,000 pohtical
donation to the Conservative Party (2008 £Nil)

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in rmind the aptitudes
and abihties of the applicant concerned It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should as far as possible be identical to that of other employees In the
event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort 1s made to ensure that ther amployment with the
Company continues and that the appropnate training 1s faciitated

Employee consultation

The Company places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them
informed on matters affecting them as employees and on various factors affecting the performance of the
Company This 15 achieved through formal and informal meetings Employee representatives are consulted
regularly on a wide range of matters affecting current and future interests and developments

Pensicns

The Company offers all emptoyees the opportunity to participate in a defined contribution scheme (see Note
11 to the Financial Statements)

Directors” and employees’ remuneration

The Company maintains a compensation policy for its employees to faciitate pay-for-performance and to
retain key employees The benefits accruing under the policy are based upon employee achievement and the
financial performance of the Company This includes CIGL's share option schemes for certain executives and
employees of both the Company and CIGL Group, as detailed in Note 25 to the Financial Statements
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Envircnmental policy

Although the Company does not have a formal environmental policy it endeavours to mimmise harm to the
environment by adopting energy efficient products and re-cycling the waste it produces where possible
Suppher payment policy and practice

It 1s the Company's policy to agree terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms for each
transaction and to abide by those terms Standard terms provide for payment of all invoices within 30 days
after the date of the invoice except where different terms have been agreed with the supplier at the outset
There were 38 creditor days (2008 55 days) of supplers' invoices outstanding at the year end The average
creditor days for the year was 44 (2008 38 days)

Directors and officers
The Company has Directors’ and Officers’ Liabihty insurance policies which covers all Directors and staff
Events since the balance sheet date

There were no events cccurnng subsequent to the balance sheet date requiring disclosure in these Financial
Statements

Statement of directors’ responsibihties

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report and the Financia! Statements The Directors
have chosen to prepare the accounts for the Company in accordance with United Kingdorm Generaily Accepted
Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP™)

Company law requires the directors to prepare such Financial Statements for each financial year which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company and cash flow
statement for that period and comply with the Companies Act 1585 In prepanng those Financial Statements,
the Directors are required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

. state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and

. prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inapprepriate to presume that

the Company will conbinue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy

at any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements

comply with the Companies Act 1985 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company

and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who were members of the board at the tuime of approving the Directors' Report are

hsted above Having made enguiries of fellow Directors and of the Company's auditors, each of the

Directors confirms that

. to the best of each Drrector's knowledge and behef, there 1s no audit information {as defined by the
Companies Act 1985) relevant to the preparation of their report of which the Company's auditors are
unaware, and

. each Director has taken all the steps a director might reasonably be expected to have taken to bhe aware
of relevant audit information (as defined n the Compames Act 1985) and to estabhsh that the
Company's auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation 15 given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the

Companies Act 2006

Auditors

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue n offige as auditors and a resolution to reappoint

them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meetigf

Bret Woudstra

Operating Dhrector & Chief Financial
Officer

A o,

/—
Martin Belsham Sunof Bir

Director & Chief Executive Officer Direct: r’& Chi
Officer

Park House

16 Finsbury Circus
London

EC2M 7EB
Unsted Kingdom

1 February 2010
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Deloitte.

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
of City Index Limited

We have audited the Financial Statements (the "Financial Statements”) of City Index bimited (the *Company”)
for the year ended 31 March 2009 which compnise the profit and loss Account, the balance sheet, the
statement of total recogmised gains and losses, the Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the cash
flow statement and the related Notes 1 to 31 These Financial Statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein

This report 15 made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 Qur audit work has heen undertaken so that we rmight state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ repert and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Repert and the Financial Statements in accordance with
apphcable taw and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audit the Financial Statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements give a true and fair view and are
properly prepared \n accordance with the Companies Act 1985 We also report to you whether 1n our opinion
the information given 1n the Directors' Report 1s consistent with the Financia! Statements

In addition we report to you If, in our opimion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, If we
have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or «f information specified by
law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read the Directors’ Report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements within it

Basis of Audit Opinion

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of ewidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the Financial Statements It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the Financial Statements, and of whether the
accountmg policies are appropnate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the infermation and explanations which we considered
necessary In order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reascnable assurance that the Financial
Statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other wregulanty or error In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Financial
Statements

Opimion
In our opimon

. the Financial Statements give a true and fair view, 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 March 2009 and of the
Company’s loss for the year then ended,

. the Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985,
and
- the information given in the Directors' Report 1s consistent with the Financral Statements
e@be L P

Delortte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London, United Kingdom

1 February 2010
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Profit and Loss Account

(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
Note 2009 2008
Net trading income 3 34,078 47,886
Net fee and commission Income 4 3,387 10,731
Net finance Income (expense) 5 2,696 (3,541)
Total operating income 40,161 55,076
Administrative expenses 59,222 56,337
Depreciation and amortisaton 6 7,606 5,640
66,828 61,977
Exceptional items 7 12,222 34,223
Total administrative expenses 79,050 96,200
Operating loss 8 (38,889) (41,124)
Interest income 9 6,151 10,600
Interest expense 10 {B,537) (3,637}
Provision against 1nvestment 1n subsidiary
company i5 (5,327) -
Provision against loss on disposal of subsidiary
companies 15 - (1,142)
Income from shares in group company -
dividend received - 238
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (46,602} (35,065)
Tax (charge) credit on loss on ordinary activities 12 (8,011) 7,298
Loss for the financial year (54,613) {(27,767)

The Statement of Total Recognised Gamns and Losses i1s detaled on page 11 All financial resuits derived from

continuing operations in the current and preceding year

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 are an integral part of these Financial Statements

City Index Limited
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Balance Sheet

{in thousands of £) As at 31 March
Restated
Note 2009 2008
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 16,726 18,817
Tangible fixed assets 14 14,465 11,864
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 15 - 5,727
31,191 36,408
Current assets
Deferred tax assets 12 - 4,960
Financial assets availlable-for-sale 16 305 499
Trade receivables 17 62,633 171,075
Prepayments and other recewables 18 48,326 32,557
Cash at bank and in hand 19 16,172 71,409
127,436 280,500
Current habihties
Trade payables 20 75,514 119,598
Other payables 21 21,931 31,325
Loans payable 22 - 92,000
97,445 242,923 !
NET CURRENT ASSETS 29,991 37,577

Non-current habilities

Loans pavable - subordinated loans 23 - 8,000
Provisions for habilities and charges 24 2,220 1,400

2,220 9,400
NET ASSETS 58,962 64,585

Capital and reserves

Equity share capital 25 88 86 ‘
Preference shares 26 106,000 58,000 ‘
Share premium 36,134 35,236 |
Retained earnings (86,636) (32,113)
Special reserve 3,376 3,376

TOTAL EQUITY 58,962 64,585

A

of Directors and authonsed for i1ssue on

T il

These Financial Statements were approved by
1 February 2010 Signed on behalf of the Board of

Martin Belsham = Simon/Bird

Director & Chief Executive Officer Dwector & ChieffOperating Director & Chief Financial
Offickr Officer
Park House
16 Finsbury Circus
London !
EC2M 7EB ;

United Kingdom

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 are an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses

(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
Note 2009 2008

Loss for the financial year (54,613) (27,767)

Fair value movement of investments available-for-sale 16 90 -

Total losses recognised since last annual report
and financial statements {54,523) (27,767)

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

{in thousands of £) Equity
share Preference Share Retained Special Total

capital shares premium earnings reserve equity
Balance at 31 March 2007 77 58,000 353 20,085 3,376 81,891
Additional shares Issued (Note 25) 9 . 34,883 - - 34,892
Loss for the financial year - - {27,767) - (27,767)
Employee share based paymenis
(Note 25) - - 569 - 569
Dividend pald - - {25,000) - (25,000)
Balance a2t 31 March 2008 86 58,000 35,236 (32,113) 3,378 64,585
Additional shares Issued (Note 25) 2 - 898 - - 200
Additional preference shares issued
{Note 26) 48,000 - - - 48,000
Loss for the financial year - - - {54,613} - (54,613)

Total recognised gains and losses -
fair value of Investments avaiable-
for-sale 90 - 90

Balance at 31 March 2009 88 106,000 36,135 (B5,636) 3,376 58,962

The share premium reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares 1ssued and the
consideration received

On 5 February 2008 the Directors declared an in specie dvidend of £25,000,000 by the distribution of all of its
shares in its wholly owned subsidiary, IFX Markets Inc , to its parent company, City Index (Holdings) Limited
as part of a group reorganisation (see Note 15 to the Financial Statements)

The special reserve of £3,376,000 was created on the cancellation of the then share premium reserve on
24 February 1995 and 15 non-distnbutable

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 are an integral part of these Financial Statements

City Index Limited Page | 11




City Index Limited
Report and Financial Statements 2009

Statement of Cash Flows

(i thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March

Note 2009 2008
Reconcihation of operating loss to operating cash
flows
Loss for the financial year (54,613) (27,767)
Interest income 9 (6,151) (10,600)
Interest expense 10 8,537 3,637
Provision agaimnst loss on disposal of subsidiary compames 15 400 1,142
Provision against investment in subsidiary company 15 5,327 -

Income from shares tin group company - dividend received - (238)
Income tax expense (credit) 12 8,011 (7,298)
Operating loss (38,489) {41,124)
Adjustments or non-cash and other items
Impairment of trade receivables 25,295 48,074
Depreciation and amortsation 7,606 5,640
Redundancy provision {798) -
Tangible fixed assets written off {(non exceptcnal) 7 1,736 364
Share based payment - 569
Net increase {decrease) 1n cnerous lease provisions 24 820 (322)
(3,830) 13,201
Decrease In trade receivables 83,147 14,565
Increase in prepayments and other receivables (20,258) (19,333)
Decrease In trade payables (44,084) (97,554)
{Decrease) increase In other payables (8,323) 13,201
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 6,652 (75,920)
Returns on iInvestments and servicing of finance
Interest income 9 6,151 10,600
Interest expense 10 (8,537) {3,637)
(2,386) 6,963
Tax received (paid) 2,338 (1,572)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (10,125) (8,880)
Acquisitions and disposals
Sales proceeds (purchase) of investments held as
avallable-for-sale 16 284 {499)
Sales proceeds (purchase} of subsidiary undertakings 15 - (1,851)
284 (2,350)
Net cash outflow before financing {3,237 {81,759)
Financing
Loans {repaid) received - other (100,000) 62,000
Preference shares issued 26 48,000 34,892
{(52,000) 96,892
(Decrease) increase 1n cash at bank and in hand in
the year {55,237) 15,133
The reconciliation of net debt 1s detailed 1n Note 27 to the Finanoial Statements
The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 are an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ORGANISATION

City Index Limited (the "Company” or "CIL") 1s a private hmited liabiity company incorporated under
number 1761813 on 17 October 1983 under the United Kingdom'’s Companies Act

The principal activity of the Company during the year continued to be the provision of market-making
and spread-trading services 1n a variety of financial preducts and markets The Company currently
operates i the United Kingdom and Poland, with its offices located in London and Warsaw

The immediate parent company 1s City Index (Holdings) Limuted ("CIHL"), a company incorporated in
the United Kingdom The prinoipal intermediate parent company 15 City [ndex Group Limited ("CIGL"),
a company incorporated 1n the United Kingdom and which s the top company of the operating sub-
group that the Directors consider the Company to be part of Thus sub-group 1s generally referred to as
the City Index Grovp The ultmate parent company and controling party s IPGL Limited (CIPGL"),
which 1s the largest group that prepares financial statements into which the Company 1s consolidated
The smallest group into which the Company 1s consolidated 1s CIHL Copies of the financial statements
of IPGL and CIGL are avallable from the Registrar of Companies, Companles House, Crown Way,
Maindy, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ

in September 2008 CIHL purchased the remaining 2 2% equity interest it did not hold in the Company
from two (2) Directors of the Company for cash consideration of £4,427,000, which represented an
arm's length transaction On this date the Company became a wholly-owned subsidiary of CIHL

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act
1985 The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are set out in Note 2 to the
Financial Statements

The Company 15 authonsed and regulated by the Financial Services Authonty ("FSA™) The Company's
FSA Register Numbers 113942, for details see www fsa gov uk/register

The Financial Statements of City Index Limited for the year ended 31 March 2009 (“the Financal
Statements”) were authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 1 February 2010 and the Balance
Sheet signed on the board's behalf by Martin Belsham, Simon Bird and Bret Woudstra

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

. Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with the historical cost
basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments as described below, and n
accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards and with the provisions of
the Comparnies Act 1985 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
Financial Statements are set out below These policies have been consistently applied to the
years presented The Financia! Statements are presented in thousands of British Pounds ("£" or
*GBP"), which s the Company's presentation and functional currency

Going concern The Company's business activities, together with the key factors likely to
affect its future development, profitability, cash flows, iquidity position, borrowing facilities and
financial posibion are contained within the Directors' Report and the Financial Statements In
addition the Directors’ Report includes the Company's financial nsk management objectives

The current economic conditions have created uncertainty in respect of current trading levels
and credit risk exposures to customers During the year, the Company's financial performance
was affected by these difficult trading conditions, as well as by the significant speafic bad debts
which are detailed in Note 7 and Note 8 to the Financial Statements The resulting losses were
offset by capital injected by the shareholders in the form of preference shares The Company
has taken a number of measures to improve trading performance and working capital These
have included the introduction of enhanced market and counterparty rnisk management
procedures, revised terms of business for customers and cost reduchon measures The
Company continues to progress these initiatives and, together with stabilsing markets, they
have resulted n improved post year end levels of trading as well as a significant reduction In
bad debt levels

At the balance sheet date the Company's immediate parent company, CIHL, has a bank term
loan faclity of £23,250,000 that fell due for repayment on 28 November 2008 and s secured
over the Company's shares Principal and interest payments on the term loan have continued
to be made by CIHL in accordance with the original Igan terms and the loan has not been
recalled by the lenders At the date of this report the bank term loan amount outstanding was
£16,500,000 The loan 1s repayable on demand and 1s guaranteed by IPGL, the Company's
ulbbmate parent company CIHL, in comjunction with IPGL, remains :n negotiation with the
lending banks to renew the facihity on revised terms
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IPGL has provided a commitment to CIGL, and therefore the Company, to provide additional
working capital up to a maximum of £35,000,000 (increased from £10,000,000), If required, for
a period of fifteen (15) months from the date of this report The Directors beheve this provides
additional committed funds If trading were to detenorate significantly, although the Company’s
current projections do not anticipate utihising this support

The Directors have made enquines of IPGL and believe it has sufficient resources to enable it to
meet 1ts obligations to the CIGL Group and to the Company

IPGL, the Company's ultimate parent company, 15 located i the European Economic Area and
therefore FSA apples consolidated capital adeguacy supervision requirements at this leve! The
Directors of both the Company and IPGL, an unregulated entity, have raised concerns with the
FSA regarding the application and interpretation of the rules as they relate to IPGL, whose
business 15 acting as an investment holding company, and in particular the punitive treatment
that certain assets that it holds which the Directors regard as both hquid and tradable at values
significantly in excess of their historic cost and recorded book values, but which are treated as
deductions from regulatory assets The Directors have been in discussions with the FSA for a
number of months on this matter and have presented proposals on the treatment of these
assets which they consider more appropriately reflect the economic substance of IPGL's
business and the value of its assets Over this period the FSA has not required additional
capital to be provided by shareholders of either 1PGL or the Company Also, it should be noted
that the Company has maintained capital in excess of its solo regulatory capital requirements
The Directors of the Company and of IPGL remain in constructive discussions with the FSA on
this matter and believe it will be resoived satisfactorily in due course In addition to considering
different treatments for consohdated capital calculations, these discussions include alternative
actions such as a possible restructunng whereby certain businesses of the IPGL Group giving
rise to the consolidated regulatory capital defiot would be moved outside of the European
Economic Area The Directors of the Company and IPGL are satisfied that the FSA will permit
them sufficient time to imptement whichever solution 15 agreed

Company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, show that the Company should be able to operate within the level of its current
facihties Therefore after making due enquines, including taking inte consideration current
market conditions, the IPGL guarantee of the outstanding bank facility, provision by IPGL of
further working capital {which the projections do not currently anticipate utiising) and IPGL's
financial posifion and the regulatory capital position, the Directors believe they have a
reasonable basis to conclude that the Company has adequate resources to continue In
operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason, the Directors continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements

Consolidated financial statements

Under the provisions of Section 228 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company does not prepare
consolhdated financial statements as 1t s a wholly owned subsidiary of City Index (Holdings)
Limited, which does prepare consolidated financial statements

Restatement of comparatives

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year's Financial Statements to enhance
comparability with current year Financial Statements As a result, certain ine items have been
amended on the Balance Sheet and the related notes to the Financial Statements There have
been no changes to the reported results for the previcus year The only significant change that
affects reported equity 15 the restaterment of preference shares from debt to equity, which had
the following impact on prior year comparatives

(in thousands of £) 2008 year
reported in Previously
current reported 2008
year as year as Difference
Non-current habihties 9,400 67,400 (58,000}
Net assets and total equity 64,585 6,585 58,000
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After taking legal advice following the ssue of further preference shares with similar terms
duning the current year (see Note 26 to the Financial Statements) it was determined that all of
the Company's 1ssued preference shares have the characteristics of equity rather than debt and
therefore they have been reclassified accordingly, with the prior year balance restated The
principal reason for the equity classification 1s that the terms of the preference shares include
no contractual obligation for the Company to repay the holder (either in cash or another
financial asset) and specifically, the Company has the sole discretion to determine whether a
dividend 15 paid

. Apphication of sigmificant accounting policies, critical accounting
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Preparation of Financial Statements in conforrmity with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP™) requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates It
also requires the Company's Management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Company's accounting policies

The Company's accounting policies descrbed herein are integral to understanding 1ts results of
operations and financial condition The preparation of the Financial Statements requires the
Company’s Management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabiliies, income and expense for the reporting periods Use of available information
and application of judgement are inherent In the formation of estimates The Company’s
Management bases Its estimates and judgements on information avatlable, historical experience
and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circurnstances The
Company’s Management evaluates its estmates and Judgements on an ongoing basts, including
those related to provisions, investments, income taxes, contingencies and htigation  Actual
results in the future could differ from such estimates, and the differences may be maternal to
the Financial Statements The most significant Management estimates and assumptions are

. Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

The Company regularly reviews its trade receivables to assess impairment and uses
estimates based on historical loss experience for similar assets with similar credit nsk
charactenstics  The Company uses its judgement to estimate the amount of any
impairment loss 1n cases where a counterparty 1s in financial difficulties and there 1s
limited available historical data relating to similar borrowers

. Intangible assets

Intangible assets, including goodwill, are carried at historical cost less accurnulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment The carrying values of intangible assets are
reviewed for imparrment when events or changes in crcumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable The Company uses its judgement to assess
impairment and to the extent these assumptions change this could affect reported
values Details of the goodwill are contained in Note 13 of the Financial Statements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty There are no other assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant nsk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habihities
within the next financial year

. Cash balances

Cash consists of cash on hand and deposits repayable on demand from financal nstitutions
that are free from contractual encumbrances For the purposes of the preparation of the cash
flow statement, net cash and cash eqguivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts These balances exclude chent momes held by the Company (see
client monies accounting policy)

Client monies not subject to the chient money rules are held in non-segregated bank accounts
and are included on the Balance Sheet where they are disclosed as either cash or recewvables,
depending on their nature, with a corresponding creditor The return received on managing
chent balances 1s included within interest recerved

. Client monies

The Company holds money on behalf of clients i accordance with the client money rules of its
regutators, where required Client monies held 1n segregated bank accounts 1n accordance with
regulations and the corresponding liabilittes to these clients are not recognised n the Balance
Sheet because the Company 1s not beneficially entitled to them

City Index Linnted Page | 15



City Index Limited
Report and Financial Statements 2009

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a hability and deducted from equity at the balance sheet date only
if they are declared and approved by shareholders before or on the balance sheet date
Dmidends are disclosed when they are proposed before the balance sheet date or proposed or
declared after the balance sheet date but before the Financial Statements are authorised for
1ssue

Equity share capital

Equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into  An equity instrument 1s any contract that ewidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Company after deducting all of its habiities  Equity instruments i1ssued by the
Company are recorded as the proceeds receved, net of external costs directly attmbutable to
the 1ssue Ordinary shares and preference shares, where they share the charactenistics of
equity, are classified as equity Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the
par value of shares 1ssued 1s recogmised as share premium

Exceptional 1tems

The Company presents as exceptional items on the face of the Profit and Loss Account, those
matenal items of income and expense which, because of thesr size, nature and expected
infrequency of the events giving rnise to them, ment separate presentation to allow shareholders
to understand better the etements of financial performance in the year, so as to facltate
comparison with prior periods and to assess trends in financial performance

Financial assets and habilities

Financial assets and habilities are recognised on trade date Financial assets and habthities in
the scope of Financial Reporting Standard 26 - Finanoal Instruments Recogmtion and
Measurement (“*FRS 26”) are classified into one of the following four (4) categornes, as
appropriate

. financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
. financial assets or liabilities available-for-sale,

. loans and receivables, or

. financial assets or habilities held-to-maturity

Financial assets and habiities are imbially measured at fair value including transaction
costs, except for those financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss which
are inthially measured at fair value The Company determines the classification of its financiat
assets and habilities at initial recogmition and re-evaluates this designation at each financial
year end, where applicable

. Financial assets and habilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and hiabilities comprising open spread bets, contracts for difference and
options are classified as derivative financial instruments tn accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 25 - Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation {*FRS 25")
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value are classified as held for trading If they are

. acquired or incurred for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term,
or

. a part of an identfied portfoho of financial instruments that the Company
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term-profit-taking, or

. a denvative that i1s not designated and effective as a hedging instrument

The financial assets and labilities at fawr value through profit or loss are stated at far
value with any resulting gans or losses recognised In the Profit and Loss Account

Balances ansing from the above are disclosed as ether trade recewvables or trade
payables Trade recewvables or trade payables represent balances with counterparties
and chents where the combination of cash held on account and the valuation of financial
dernivative open positions result in an amount due to or from the Company A provision
for impairment 15 established where there 1s objective evidence of non-collectability
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Fenancial assets avallable-for-sale

Financial assets available-for-sale are those non-denvative financial assets that are
classified as avatable-for-sale or are not classified as being in any of the other categories
and are imtally recogmised at cost (which includes directly attnibutable transaction
costs) After imtial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the
nvestment 1s derecognised or until the investment 1s determined to be smpaired at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity i1s included in the Profit and
Loss Account Interest s calculated using the effective interest method and recogmsed
in the Profit and Loss Account Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recogrused as profit when the Company’s nght to receive payment 1s estabhished

Loans and receivables

Loans and recevables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in active markets Loans and receivables, including
preference share borrowings, are inibally measured at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred  Subsequent measurement 15 at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate methed to ameortise the amount at inception to the redemption value aver the life of
the loan or recevable Interest i1s calculated using the effective interest method and
recagnised in the Profit and Loss Account

Financial Liabihities

Except for denivatives and held-for-trading habilties, which are classified as at fair value
through profit and loss on imtial recogmition, all other financial habibties are carned at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method

Fatr value of financial assets and hiabilities

Financial assets and habilibes purchased or sold are recorded on a trade date basis and
include

. spread trading on equities, equity indices, precious and base metals, soft
commodities, exchange rates, Interest rates, exchange traded futures and
options, and

. fixed odds on equities, equity ndices, precious and base metals, soft

commodities, exchange rates, interest rates and other financial instruments

The estimated fair value of financiat assets and liabihties 1S made in accordance with the
requirements of FRS 26 Fair value I1s defined as the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between knowledgeable willing parties on
arm’s length conditions, other than in a forced sale or hquidation The fair value of
assets or habilities that are actively traded in orgamised financial markets 1s determined
by reference to quoted market bid or ask prices, respectively, at the close of business on
the balance sheet date

For assets where there 1s no active market, fair value 15 determined using valuation
techriques, including valuation pricing models  Valuabon pricing models consider time
value and volatility factors underlying financial instruments as well as other relevant
economic factors The output of a model 1s always an estimate or approximation of a
value that cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techmques employed may
not fully reflect factors relevant to the positions the Company holds Valuations are
therefore adjusted, where approprate, to allow for additional factors including model
nsks and counterparty credit nsk The Company’s Management believes that these
valuation adjustments are necessary and appropnate to state fairly the values of
financral instruments carned at fair value on the Balance Sheet

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other recewables and
payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relative short term matunty
of these financial nstruments

De-recognition of financial assets and habilities

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual nghts to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the financal asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity If the Company neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Company recognises Its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liabihty for amounts it may have to pay If the Company retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a coliateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received
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The Company derecognises financial liabilites when, and only when, the Company’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire

. Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date
Financial assets are impaired where there 1s objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the mtial recogmtion of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been \impacted For financai assets
carned at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment 1s the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the imparrment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of recevables where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account When a recewvable 1s uncollectible, 1t
1s wnitten off agamnst the allowance account Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the allowance account Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recogrised in the Profit and Loss Account

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the imparment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed through the Profit and
Loss Account to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
impairment 1s reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised

. Financial instruments disclosure

Financial Reporting Standard 29 - Financial Instruments Dhisclosure ("FRS 29") requires
information on the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial position
and performance, infermatien about exposure to risks ansing from financial instruments
and the Company’s objectives, polices and processes for managing capital

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption permitted under FRS 29 and not
disclosed the required information as it 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of City Index
(Hotdings) Limited which prepares consolidated financial statements which provides the
required information on a group basis

For amortised interest relating to financial assets and habilittes the Company uses the effective
interest method The effective interest method 1s @ method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period The
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
(including all fees or points paid or receved that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transactions costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financia!l instrument, or where appropnate, a shorter period

. Foreign currency translation

The Financial Statements are presented in thousands of GBP, which s the Company's
presentation currency The Company discloses the amount of exchange differences recognised
in profit or loss except for those ansing en financial instruments measured at far value through
profit or loss 1n accordance with FRS 29 Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the
functional currency at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and
labihties denominated n foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
transactions at rates different from those at the date of the transaction, as well as unrealised
foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and liablities are
recognised In the Profit and Loss Account Unrealised exchange differences on non-monetary
financial assets (Investments in equity instruments) are a component of the change 1n the:r fair
value For a non-monetary financial asset classified as held for trading, unrealised exchange
differences are recognised n the Profit and Loss Account For non-monetary financial assets,
which are classified as avalable-for-sale, unrealised exchange differences are recorded directly
in equity until the asset 15 sold or becomes impaired

D Impairment of assets

At least annually, or when annual i/mpairment testing 15 required, the Directors consider the
carrying amounts of the Company's tangible and intangible assets to deterrmine whether there
15 any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated n order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any) Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
to which the asset belongs
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The recoverable armount is the higher of realisable value less sefling costs and value in use In
assessing value in yse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values
using a pre-tax discount rate This rate reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money as well as the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted If the recoverable amount of an asset 15 estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 15 reduced to its recoverable amount
Impairment losses are recogrmised immediately as an expense

An assessment 1S made at each reporting date as to whether there 1s any ndication that
previously recogmised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount 1s estimated A previously recogmsed impairment
loss 1s reversed only if there has been a change In the estimates used to determine the asset's
recoverable amount since the last tmpairment loss was recognised If that i1s the case the
carrying amount of the asset 1s increased to its recoverable amount That increased amount
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been deterrmned had no impairment {oss
been recogrused for the asset in prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recognised as
income immediately

. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are carried at histoncal cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for mpairment when events
or changes In carcumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable
Intangible assets are derecogmsed upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to anse from the continued use of the asset The gain or loss ansing on de-
recognition of an asset 15 determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is included n the income statement in the period of de-
recognition Intangible assets with a finte Iife are amortised on a straight ine basis over their
expected vseful lives, as follows

. Goodwill ten {10) years

. Investments 1n subsidiaries

In the Company Balance Sheet investments in subsidianes are stated at cost less provision for
imparrment  For investments in subsidiaries acquired through the 1ssue of shares qualifying for
merger relief, cost 15 measured by reference to the nominal value only of the shares issued,
with any premium being ignored

. Offsetting and netting

Financial assets and financial liabilibies are only offset and the net amount reported in the
Balance Sheet when there 15 a legally enforceable nght to set off the recognised amounts and
where the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
hability simultaneously

. Operating leases

Leases of assets under which the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases Lease payments under an operating lease are
recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease term and are
included in operating expenses, unless another systematic basis 1s more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed Contingent
rentals ansing under operating leases are recognised as an expense 1 the pertod in which they
are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter wnto operating leases, such incentives
are recognised as a habiity The aggregate benefit of incentives 15 recogmised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis 15 more
representative of the time pattern over which econormic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed

. Other payables

Non-trading financial habilities are recogmsed imitially at fair value and carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method If the time value of money 15 significant
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Other receivables

Qther receivahles are non-dertvative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market, do not qualfy as trading assets and have not been
designated as fair value through profit and loss Such assets are carned at amortised cost
using the effective interest method if the time value of money 1s significant  Gains and losses
are recognised 1n income when the recevables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process A provision for impairment Is established where there 1s objective
evidence of non-collectabihty

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a current legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, and it s probable that an outflow of resources embodying economc
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a relable estyimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made The amount recognised as a provision 15 the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation Where a provision 15 measured
using the cash flows estimated tc settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 1s the
present value of those cash flows When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable 1s recogrised as an
asset If it 1s wirtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
recewvable can be measured rehably

Contingent habitities are not recogrused in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed, unless the
possibility of any future cash outflows 1s considered to be remote A contingent asset i1s not
recognised 1n the Balance Sheet but 1s disclosed when an inflow of economuc benefits 1s
probable

Receivables from and pavables to brokers and dealers

Amounts receivable from and payable to brokers and dealers represent cash in margin accounts
with brokers and dealers, and payments recewvable and payable on unsettled securibes
transactions

Related party transactions

The Company’s Financial Statements include transactions and arrangements between related
parties Parties are generally considered to be related 1f one party has the ability to control the
other party, 15 under common control, or can exeraise significant influence or joint control over
the other party in making financial and operational decisions In considering each possible
related party relationship attention 1s directed to its substance and not merely the legal form
During the year the Company entered into transactions, tn the ordinary course of business, with
related parttes A summary of such related party transactrons 1s detailed tn Note 29 to the
Financial Statements

Revenue

Revenue I1s recognised when it 15 probable that economic benefits associated with the
transaction will accrue to the Company and can be reliably measured Revenue s recognised
on the following basis

. Net trading income

Net trading income includes gains and losses on the operation of the spread trading
markets and trading in financial markets and foreign exchange gains or losses on
positions, net of commussions expensed Open positions are carried at fair market value
and gains and losses arising on this valuation are recognised In revenue together with
gains and losses realised on positions that have closed Costs directly attnbutable to
trading activities are deducted from net trading income, and include government duties
and taxes Dividends receivable relating to trading activities are recogmised when the
right to receive the payment 1s established
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. Interest and finance costs

Interest 15 recogrmised n the Profit and Loss Account on a time basis by reference to the
contractual amount outstanding and 15 charged at the effective interest rate applicable
The effective interest rate 1s the rate that exactly discounts the future expected cash
flows to the carrying amount of the hability Issue costs are included in the
determination of the effective interest rates Interest receivable and interest payable to
the extent it relates to a client and financing activity ts disclosed net as part of net
financing income or expense All other interest 15 shown separately as interest income or
interest expense

. Net fee and commission thcome

Net fee and commussion income from clients are recognised over the service period
Costs directly attributable to fee and commission income are deducted against net fee
and commission iIncome, and include broker's comrmissions and clearing fees

Share-based payments

The Company has applied the provisions of Finanaal Reporting Standard 20 - Share-based
Payments ("FRS 20”) In accordance with the transitional provisions, FRS 20 has been applied
to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 1 January
2006 CIGL, the intermediate parent company, i1ssues equity settled share-based payments to
certain employees of 1ts subsidhanes, including the Company's employees The direct
attnbutable expense related to the employees of the Company 1s then charged to the Company
rather than CIGL

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of any
non-market based vesting conditions) at the date of grant The fair value determined at the
date of grant of the equity settled share-based payments 1s expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period, based on CIGL's estimate of shares that will eventually vest and
adjusted for the effect of any non-market based vesting conditions Far value 1s measured by
use of a Black-Scholes pricing model Any unamortised expense 1Is charged to the Profit and
Loss Account If awards are cancelled or vest early

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated 1mparment The carrying value of tangible fixed assets 15 reviewed for
impairment when events or changes in crcumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable Tangible fixed assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset The gamn or loss
ansing on de-recognition of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and 1s included in the Profit and Loss Account in the
period of de-recognition  Depreciation 1s calculated on a straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives

. Furniture, office and other equipment five (5) years

. Computer and telecommunications equipment three (3) years

. Website and software development costs three (3) years

. Leasehold improvements period to first break

Website development costs are capitalised only to the extent they lead to the creation of an
enduring asset delivering benefits at least as great as the amount capitahised If there 15
insufficient evidence on which to base reasonable estimates of the economic benefits that will
be generated in the period until further updates to the website, the development costs are
charged to the Profit and Loss Account as incurred Software development expenditure incurred
on the development of the Company’s trading, settlement and risk rmanagement systems 1s
capitalised All other software expenditure 15 charged to the Profit and Loss Account in the
period in which it 1s incurred

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when tncurred and included in other
operating expenses
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. Taxation

Corporation taxes

Corporation taxes have been prowvided for in the Financial Statements in accordance with
the tax legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the
jurisdictions 1in which the Company operates Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the Profit and Loss Account because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are not
taxabte or tax deductible The corporation tax charge comprises current and deferred
taxes and I1s recogmised in the Profit and Loss Account Current tax 1s the amount
expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorties in respect of taxable
profits or losses for the current and prior penods

Current tax i1s charged or credited to the Profit and Loss Account, except when it relates
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the current tax 1s dealt with
In equity

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax 15 generally accounted for on all timing differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities i the Finanoial Statements and the corresponding tax
basis used in the computation of taxable profit Deferred tax 1s recogmsed in respect of
timing differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where
transactions or events that result 1n an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a nght
to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date  Timing differences
are differences hetween the Company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the
Financial Statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses 1n tax assessments
in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the Financial Statements
Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates
that are expected to apply when the related asset is realised or labilty 1s settled, based
on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date A net
deferred tax asset 1s regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only to the extent
that, on the basis of all available evidence, 1t can be regarded as more hkely than not
that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
uming differences can be deducted Deferred tax assets and iablires are offset when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authorty and the Company
ntends to settle its current tax assets and habilittes on a net basis

Deferred tax 15 charged or credited to the Profit and Loss Account, except when it relates
to items charged or credited directly to equity, 1n which case the deferred tax 15 dealt
with 1n equity

Taxes, such as non-recoverable value added taxes and betting duties are recorded with 1n
operating expenses

3 NET TRADING INCOME
(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Equities 26,354 38,037
Foreign exchange 7,724 5,849
Total net trading thcome 34,078 47,886
of which from CIGL group companies 139 279
of which to IPGL group companies (367 (43)
4 NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
{1 thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Net commission income 2,431 9,758
Fee income 956 973
Total net fee and commission income 3,387 10,731
of which (to) from CIGL group companies (4,763) 10
of which from IPGL group compames 136 292
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5 NET FINANCE INCOME (EXPENSE)

(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Interest income
Interest recewved from chents 11,653 57,432
Interest received from brokers 5,971 8,748
17,624 66,180
Interest received from CIGL group companies 147 -
Interest received from IPGL group companies 3,634 -
Total interest iIncome 21,405 66,180
Interest expense
Interest paid to clients 2,608 4,607
interest paid to brokers 15,659 65,040
18,267 69,647
Interest paid to CIGL group companies 7 -
Interest paid to IPGL group companies 435 74
Total interest expense 18,709 69,721
Net interest iIncome (expense) 2,696 (3,541)
6 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
{in thousands of £} For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,515 3,549
Amortisation of goodwill 2,091 2,091
Total depreciation and amortisation 7,606 5,640
7 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
(1n thousands of £} For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Imparrment of recewvables, net of recoveres
{exceptional) 7,985 34,223
Business transformation restructuring costs 1,679 -
Property related restructuring costs 2,358 -
Total exceptional items 12,222 34,223

Impairment of receivables (exceptional) In July 2008 the Company incurred a significant net
credit loss on a group of connected client exposures which, 1n the opimon of the Directors, was
exceptional by its nature and size The group of chents falled to meet their margin obligation under the
relevant contract-for-difference terms and conditions They eventually confirmed they could not meet
these obligations and the positions were closed with a net loss to the Company of £19,133,000 This
net loss was previously estimated at the time of approval of the 31 March 2008 accounts as being
£12,000,000 The Directors currently anticipate further recoveries on this account but at this stage the
guantum remans uncertain and no contingent asset has been recognised

The current year exceptional impawrment of receivables charge of £7,985,000 represents the
£19,133,000 loss incurred in July 2008, net of the current year recovenies of £11,148,000 in respect of
prior year losses detailed below

Duning the prnior year the Company incurred significant credit losses in respect of one counterparty
which, in the opinion of the Directors, was exceptional by its nature and size This related to a Spanish
regulated brokerage firm to which the Company provided white-label services, whose clents failled to
meet their margin obligations under the relevant contract-for-difference terms and conditions The net
toss to the Company, including post year end recovenies, was £34,223,000 (€43,498,000)
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The Company has received promissory notes from the brokerage firm for an amount of £12,467,000
(€15,000,000) under the terms of settlement, of which £1,319,000 (€2,000,000) was received up to
3 September 2008 and was taken into account 1n determiming the impairment charge for the 2008
year The net loss to the Company in the 2008 year, net of post year end recoveries which were
treated as adjusting post balance sheet events under UK GAAP, was £34,223,000 (€43,498,000)
Dunng the current year the Company received a further £11,148,000 (€13,000,000) in recoveres
under promissory notes held in connection with a settlement agreement with the chents prosmussory
notes receivable under the terms of settlement agreement which have not been recognised as an asset
in the Financial Statements

Other exceptional costs® During the current year the Directors iibiated a business transformation
project to restructure and refocus the business This identified costs to be treated as exceptional
operating items due to their size and non-recurring nature These primarily relate to redundancy costs
(£1,679,000), onerous lease commitments on non-utiised property (£822,000) and the wnte-off of
redundant informatton technology assets {£1,736,000)

OPERATING LOSS

(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008

Operating loss s stated after charaging
Amortisation of goodwill 2,091 2,091
Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fees payable to auditors for the audit of

Company's annual accounts 914 703
Non-audit fees
Tax services 7 47

Charitable denations 14 43
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5,515 3,549
Employee share-based payments {Note 25) - 569
Impairment of receivables, net of recoveries {(non
exceptional) 12,819 13,851
Operating lease rentals - other - 23
Operating lease rentals - land and buildings 2,174 1,101
Provision agamnst investment in subsidiary company
{Note 15) 5,327 -
Provision agamnst loss on disposal of subsidiary
companies {Note 15) - 1,142
Tangible fixed assets written off {non exceptional) - 364

Impairment of receivables {(non exceptional items). Durning the year ended 31 March 2009, in
addition to the credit losses the Directors considered exceptional and which are described in Note 7 to
the Financial Statements above, the Company also incurred other credit losses amounting to
£12,819,000 of which the four {4) largest were £3,679,000 in aggregate represented 29% of the non-
exceptional total of impairment losses (2008 £13,851,000, of which £12,702,000 related to significant
credit losses on five (5) chents, representing 92% of the total) The Directors consider that collectively
these losses, whilst incurred in the normal course of business, are significant by virtue of their size and
impact on reported results and continue to pursue recovenes on these accounts, although at this stage
the quantum of any recoveries of any recoveries remamns uncertam

The following table provides additional detail on the impairment charges to the profit and loss account
by accounting period
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(in thousands of £}

For the year ended 31 March

2009 2008
impairment of receivables, net of recoveries (non-
excepbonal) 12,819 13,851
Impairment of recewables, net of recoveries
(exceptional) 7,985 34,223
20,804 48,074
Analysis by reporting period Impairment Recoveries Totat
provisions * * Impairment
March 2008 49,687 {1,613} 48 074
Recoveries relatng to March 2008 - (14,363) {14,363)
June 2008 4,980 - 4,980
September 2008 24,951 {291) 24,660
December 2008 5,356 - 5,356
March 2009 171 - 171
35,458 {14,654) 20,8049
Total 85,145 {16,267} 68,878

* For the purpose of this table the /mpairment charge
and recoveries have been included in the period In
which the mnibal chient default occurred

The impairment losses in the two quarters ending 30 September 2009 amounted to £29,640,000

9 INTEREST INCOME
(i thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Interest received from bank accounts 5,626 10,600
Interest received from IPGL group companies 525 -
Total interest income 6,151 10,600
10 INTEREST EXPENSE
(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Interest paid on bank loans 6,727 3,110
Interest pawd to others 117 -
6,844 3,110
Interest payd to CIGL group companies 1,317 -
Interest paid to IPGL group compantes 376 527
Total interest expense 8,537 3,637

Included n interest paid to banks 15 interest paid of £2,700,000 (2008 £3,0%0,000) and refinancing
fees of £1,918,000 (2008 £1,142,000) in connection with the Company’s revolving bank loan faclity
(see Note 22 to the Financial Statements) used to finance chent trading and associated hedging
activities This facility was repaid on 22 October 2008 and 1s no longer utilised
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11

DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 March

2009 2008
Directors and employees
The average number of employees ({(including
Directors} during the year was as follows No. No
Management and admimistration 166 169
Information and technology 110 68
Dealing 32 68
308 305
(in thousands of £)
Staff costs during the year amounted to:
Wages and salaries 14,635 16,083
Social security costs 2,183 1,499
Company contribubons to money purchase pension
schemes 43 402
Employee share based payments (see Note 25) - 569
16,861 18,553
Total aggregate emoluments of all Directors
Emoluments 2,202 2,579
Compensation for loss of office 287 427
2,489 3,006
Company contributons to money purchase pension
plans 22 271
2,511 3,277
Aggregate emoluments 1n respect of highest
paid Director
Emoluments 224 745
Compensation for loss of office 137 -
361 745
Company contributions to money purchase pension
plans 8 225
369 970

The Company maintains a compensation policy for its Directors and employees to facilitate pay-for-
performance and to retain key employees The benefits accruing under the policy are based upon
Director or employee achievements and the financial perfermance of the Company The Company also
provides employees with health insurance and other benefits Amounts payable under the
compensation policy at reporting dates have been accrued in full in the Company’s Balance Sheet and
recorded as part of Administrative Expenses 1n the Company’s Profit and Loss Account

Directors’ and employees’ emoluments have been calculated as the sum of cash, bonuses and benefits
in kind Other than as disclosed above there are no termination, post-employment or other long-term
benefits accruing to Directors Detalls of share-based payments are disclosed 1in Note 25 to the
Financial Statements

Pension arrangements' The Company’s makes both required social contributions 1n accordance with
local legislation on behalf of its employees and individual personal pension contributions on a himited
basis These contnbutions are expensed as incurred and the Company has no legal or constructive
obligation to make any further payment in respect of such statutory social and pension contnbutions
The Company makes pension contnbutions to money purchase schemes 1n respect of one (1) Director
(2008 three (3) Directors)
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12 TAX CHARGE (CREDIT) ON LOSS BEFORE TAX

(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Current tax charge (credit}
Corporation tax credit on taxable loss for the year - (2,338)
Prior year group relief 3,051 -
3,051 (2,338B)

Deferred tax charge (credit)
Deferred tax - originaten and reversal of timing
differences 4,960 (4,960)

Total tax charge (credit) on loss on ordinary
activities 8,011 (7,298)

The difference between the total current tax shown
above and the amount calculated by applying the
standard rate of UK corporation tax to the loss before
tax 1s as follows

Loss on ordinary activities before tax {46,602) {35,065)

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at standard

rate 28% (2008, 30%) (13,049) (10,519)
Factors affecting tax charge for the period

Depreciation for period tn excess of capital allowances 425 1,237
Share-based payments not deductible for tax purposes - 171
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,531 757
Amortisation of goodwill 585 517
Utihsation of tax losses - 4,960
Other bming differences - 539
Deferred tax losses not recognised 9,508 -
Prior year corporation tax 3,051 -
Total actual amount of current tax 3,051 (2,338)

Current tax

Balance at 1 Apnil 5,064 (5,347)
Current year tax credit - 2,338
Tax {recewed) paid (2,338) 1,572
Prior year group relef (2,726) 6,501
Total net current tax receivable at 31 March - 5,064

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax movements during the year were as

follows

Balance at 1 Apnil 4,960 -
(Reversal) ongination of tming differences (4,960) 4,638
Other timing_differences - 322
Total net deferred tax asset at 31 March - 4,960

Represented by

Tax losses available - 4,638
Other timing differences - 322
- 4,960

Tax losses carried forward in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2009 are currently expected to be
recovered in the foreseeable future based on current
profit projections - 16,564

City Index Linuted Page | 27




City Index Limited
Report and Financial Statements 2009

13

(in thousands of £}

For the year ended 31 March

2009 2008
Deferred tax asset not recognised - timing
differences relating to capital allowances, losses and
other biming differences that will only be recovered if
there 1s sufficient future taxable net income
Balance at 1 April 1,812 920
Current Year 33,958 892
Reversal of prior year recognised tax losses 31,974 -
Total deferred tax asset not recognised at 31
March 67,744 1,812
Potential tax effect of deferred tax asset not
recognised at current tax rate of 28% (2008:
30%) 18,968 544
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(in thousands of £) For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2009 2008
Goodwll Goodwill
Cost
Balance at 31 March 20,908 20,908
Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 April 2,091 -
Amortisation charge for year 2,091 2,091
Balance at 31 March 4,182 2,091
Net book value at 31 March 16,726 18,817

The net book value of goodwill relates to the acquisition on 31 March 2007 of the business, the assets
and the liabilities of the United Kingdem based business of IFX Markets Limited, which continues to be
operated separately under the “Finspreads” brand The fair value to the Company of the net assets
acquired was calculated to be £34,092,000 The consideration given was £55,000,000 and was
financed by the 1ssue of 55,000,000 £1 preference shares (see Note 26 to the Financial Statements)
Thes resulted in goodwill of £20,908,000, which I1s being amortised over 10 years

Goodwill arising on acquisitions 1s capitalised and written off on a straight line basis over its estimated
useful economic hfe, which 1s ten (10) years Impairment tests on the carrying value of goodwill are
undertaken at the end of the first full financial year following acquisition or 1n other periods If events or
changes in arcumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable

At the balance sheet date the Directors considered whether any indicators of impairment existed n
respect of the Finspreads income generating unit  Finspreads has expenenced profitable trading with
its separate customer base of smaller retail chents and the credit and trading losses incurred elsewhere
by the Company are unrelated to this business Therefore, it was concluded that no indicators of
impairment were present
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14 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March 2009
Website
Office and
Leasehold equipment, Computer software
improve- fixtures and and other develop-
ments fittings equipment ment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2008 1,978 3,034 6,778 7,435 19,225
Addittons 4,564 991 2,855 1,715 10,125
Disposals or wnite-offs {2,169) (358} (4,416) {2,303) (9,246)
Balance at 31 March 2009 4,373 3,667 5,217 6,847 20,104
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2008 895 1,346 2,955 2,165 7,361
Depreciavion charge for year 410 136 2,506 2,463 5,515
Disposals or write-offs (1,235} {307} (3,733 (1,962) (7,237)
Balance at 3t March 2009 70 1,175 1,728 2,666 5,639
Met book wvalue at 31 March
2009 4,303 2,492 3,489 4,181 14,465
(i thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March 2008
Website
Office and
Leasehold equipment, Computer software
improve- fixtures and and other develop-
ments fittings ___equipment ment Total
Cost
Balance at 1 Apnl 2007 1,577 1,401 8,165 3,796 14,939
Addticns 401 1,642 2,468 4,289 8,800
Disposals or write-offs - {9) (3,855) {650) {4,514)
Balance at 31 March 2008 1,978 3,034 6,778 7,435 19,225
Accumulated deprecration
Balance at 1 Apnil 2007 449 935 b,664 1,254 8,302
Depreciation charge for year 446 420 1,146 1,537 3,549
Disposals or write-offs - 9 (3,855} (626} {4,490)
Balance at 31 March 2008 895 1,346 2,955 2,165 7,361
Net book wvalue at 31 March
2008 1,083 1,688 3,823 5,270 11,864
15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
(in thousands of £) City Index City Index IFX
Asia Pte Advisory Markets
Limited Limited Inc Total
Balance at 31 March 2007 3,826 702 25,490 30,018
Increase in investments 1,501 350 - 1,851
Provision for loss on disposal of
subsidiaries - (652) (490) (1,142)
In specie dividend (see Note 25) - - (25,000) {25,000}
Balance at 31 March 2008 5,327 400 - 5,727
Proevision aganst investment in
subsidiary company (5,327) - - (5,327)
Disposal - (400) - (400)
Balance at 31 March 2009 - - - -
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The subsicharies of the Company are shown below

Company Dorticite Holdin Voting rights Principal Business

City Index Asia Pte Limited 1 Singapore Ordinary shares 100% Financial trading and spread betting
City Index Markets Umited England & Wales Ordinary shares 100% Dormant

City Index Racing Limited England & Wales Ordinary shares 100% Dormant

ClI Markets Limited England & Wales Ordinary shares 100% Dormant

Sportsiine Umlted England & Wales QOrdInary shares 100% Dormant

1 Regulated in Singapore by the Monetary Authority of Singapore ("MAS™)

Employee Benefit Trusts
The Company has two Employee Trusts which have not been utilised to date

At the balance sheet date the Directors concluded that t was appropriate to make full provision against
the carrying value of its investment In City Index Asia Pte Limited on the basis of its current trading
performance

On 5 February 2008 the Directors declared an in specie dividend of £25,000,000 by the distribution of
all of its shares in its wholly owned subsidiary, IFX Markets Inc, to its parent company, City Index
{Holdings) Limited ("CIHL") as part of a group reorganisation As part of the recrganisation there was
a intra-group loss on disposal of £490,000

On 1 Apnil 2008 the Company divested its wholly owned subsidiary, City Index Advisory Limited to that
entity’s management for £400,000 as it was not deemed to be a core activity A provision of £652,000
was made during the year ended 31 March 2008 in respect of this disposal

Under the prowvisions of Section 228 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company does not prepare
consolidated financial statements as it 15 a 100% (2008 97 8%) owned subsidiary of City Index
{Holdings) Limited which does prepare consolidated financial statements

16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
(1n thousands of £} As at 31 March
2009 2008
Total financial assets avallable-for sale 305 499
Represented by
Balance at 1 April 499 -
Additons during the year - 499
Disposals during the year (284) -
Revailuations during the year 90 -
Balance at 31 March 305 499
The highest, lowest and average exposure in relation to the financial assets avallable for sale were
£521,000, £146,000, £229,000 respectively (2008 £533,000, £Nil, £475,000) Subsequent to the
balance sheet date the asset was sold for £514,000
17 TRADE RECEIVABLES
(in thousands of £) As at 31 March
2009 2008
Brokers and dealers 50,076 157,128
Clients 12,557 13,947
Total trade receivables 62,633 171,075
Included in chent trade receivables are balances with
related parties entered into in the ordinary course of
business as follows
of which from IPGL group companies 289 -
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Trade receivables represent balances due from brokers and dealers and chients as a result of unsettled
derivative transactions or funds advanced by the Company for clients’ derwative transactions {after
proviston for imparments or amounts wnitten off) Trade receivables are presented by netting
brokers and dealers and client balances by counterparty where the Company 15 legally entitled to
and intends to settle on a net basis Balances are within hmits established by the Company’s Risk
and Credit Management Department and approved by the Company’s Risk and Credit Committees The
trade receivables represent the Company’s exposure to credit rnsk in relation to financial assets
Interest receivable on these balances Is disclosed in Note 5 to the Financial Statements

At the balance sheet date the Company had the following credit nsk exposures in relation to trading

exposures
(in thousands of £} As at 31 March
2009 2008

Brokers and dealers 50,076 157,128
Chents 12,557 13,947

62,633 171,075
Amount of broker and dealer trade receivables where
the Company's net contractual recewable 1s greater
than the margin or other collateral deposited by the
Company with the counterparty ("excess margin”)
A 1,125 2,979
A+ 10,307 365
A-1 - 65,611
A-2 - 74
AA- 22,737 87,872
BBB 34 227
Non-rated 15,873 -

50,076 157,128
Amount of client trade receivables where chent’s net
contractual payable to the Company 1s greater than
the margin or other collateral recewved by the
Company ("margin deficiency”) net of any credit
provisions made against the margin deficiency All
non-rated 12,557 13,947
(mn thousands of £) As at 31 March

2009 2008

Amount of credit extended to chents 4,160 13,347
Amount of unutilised credit extended to chents 11,354 121,054
The amount of credit extended to chents as at the
date of the approval of the Financial Statements was
as follows 22-Jan-2010
Amount of credit extended to chents 133
Amount of unutihsed credit extended to clients 608

Credit extended to clients 1s either by Credit Allocation or Waived Margin  Credit Allocations are a fixed
amount allocated to an Account which 1s treated in the same way as If cash had been deposited against
a client posihion and 15 utilsed In the calculation of chent’s margin requirement and trading resource
Waived Margin 1s a fixed amount allocated to an account utilised calculation of the imtial margin
required In effect initial margin 1s reduced and the client 15 only required to fund losses on an
account
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18 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(in thousands of £) As at 31 March
2009 2008

Prepayments 1,565 1,920
Other debtors and accrued income 2,043 636
Corporation tax recoverable - 5,064

3,608 7,620
Amounts due from ultimate parent company, IPGL 650 -
Amounts due from other CIGL group companies 44,068 24,374
Amounts due from CIL subsidiary companies - 563
Total prepayments and other receivables 48,326 32,557

Amounts due from the ultimate parent company and other CIGL group compames: The
amounts due from group companies are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand

19 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

(tn thousands of £) As at 31 March

2009 2008
Cash at bank and in hand 12,322 71,186
Bank deposits 3,850 223
Mores held on behalf of non-segregated chents - -
Total cash at bank and n hand 16,172 71,409

Represented by

OECD banks and regulated financial institutions 16,149 71,388
Non OECD banks and regulated financial institutions 23 21
16,172 71,409
Ratings as follows
AA - 115
AA- - 7,005
A+ 6,534 16,431
A 48 47,837
A- 9,562 -
BBB 5 -
Non-rated 23 21
16,172 71,409

This category consists of cash on hand and deposits
repayable on demand from financial institutions and
are free from contractual epcumbrances This
accounts with financial mstitutions earn Interest at
floating rates based on daily bank rates The fair
value of cash at bank and m hand 1s not matenally
different from the book value The balances above
exclude chent monies held by the Company {see
chent momes accounting policy), which are set out
below

Client money - segregated not recognised In
Financial Statements (see Note 2 accounting
policy) 111,355 192,427
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20 TRADE PAYABLES

(in thousands of £) As at 31 March
2009 2008

Brokers and dealers 20,330 13,289
Clients 55,184 106,309
Total trade payables 75,514 119,598
Included n client trade payables are balances with
related parties entered inte in the ordinary course of
business as follows
of which from CIGL group companies - 510
of which from IPGL group companies - 10,511
Payables represent balances due to brokers and dealers and clients as a result of unsettled derivative
transactions or funds receved by the Company for clients’ dervative transactons Trade payables
are presented by netting brokers and dealers and client balances by counterparty where the
Company 15 legally entitled to and intends to settle on a net basis  Balances are within limits
established by the Company’s Risk and Credit Management Department and approved by the
Company’s Risk and Credit Committees Interest payable on these balances s disclosed in Note 5
to the Financial Statements

21 OTHER PAYABLES

(in thousands of £)

As at 31 March

2009 2008
Accruals and deferred income 5,606 11,232
Other taxes and social secunity 565 491
Other creditors 5,523 13,281
11,694 25,004
Amounts due to ultimate parent company, IPGL - 210
Amounts due to other IPGL group companies - 114
Amounts due to other CIGL group companies 10,208 5,997
Amounts due to CIL subsidiary companies 29 -
Total other payables 21,931 31,325

Amounts due to the ultimate parent company and other CIGL group compames The
amounts due to group companies are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand

22 BANK LOANS
(in thousands of £)

As at 31 March

2009

2008

Bank loans

52,000

The Company had a revolving loan facility with a maximum drawdown amount of £89,000,000 secured
by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Company and the CIHL Group on which interest
was payable quarterly at 0 9% per annum above LIBOR ("Faciity B") The loan was guaranteed by
IPGL, the ultimate parent company At 31 March 2008 the Company had drawn down £92,000,000
under Facility B As detailled in Note 7 and Note B of the Financial Statements, the Company incurred
significant credit losses the effect of which was that certain key bank covenants were breached and
Faclity B became repayable on demand The Company renegotiated Faciity B with its lending banks
on an intenim basis with extensions agreed until 21 July 2008, then 12 August 2008 and then
31 October 2008 On 22 October 2008 Faciity B was repaid in full and the drawdown facility
terminated

Since 21 April 2008 and up to the date of repayment the interest rates incurred have ranged from
1 50% to 3 50% over LIBOR Interest payable on Facility B 1s disclosed in Note 10 to the Financial
Statements Fees and costs associated with the renegotiation and extension of the loan facility
amounted to £1,918,000 (2008 £2,282,000)
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23 LOANS PAYABLE - SUBORDINATED LOANS
(in thousands of £) As 3t 31 March
2009 2008
Total lcans payables - 8,000
IPGL, the ulumate parent company, has provided
loans to the Company as follows
19 December 2007 -subordinated loan, repayable by
19 December 2010, interest at LIBOR+ 1 1% per
annum Repaid on 30 March 2009 (see Note 26} - 2,000
17 February 2008 - subordinated loan, repayable by
17 December 2011, interest at LIBOR+ 1 1% per
annum Repaid on 30 March 2009 (see Note 26) - 6,000
- 8,000
On 30 April 2008 and 22 July 2008, CIHL entered into a £15,000,000 and £25,000,000 subordinated
loan faciities with the Company to provide additional long-term financing to the Company  Both
faciities were repayable by 31 March 2011 and interest was payable at LIBOR + 2% per annum
Repayment was subject to approval by Company's regulator, the Financial Services Authonty This
transaction was entered into following the losses incurred duning the year by City Index Limited as
detailled in Note 7 and Note 8 to these Financial Statements Interest payable on these balances is
disclosed in Note 10 to the Financial Statements
©On 30 March 2009 all outstanding subordinated debt facilities at that date were capitalised into
Preference Shares as part of an overall refinancng of the Company {see Note 26 to the Financial
Statements)
249 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
(in thousands of £) As at 31 March
2009 2008
Total provisions for ltabilittes and charges -
onerous lease provision 2,220 1,400
Represented by
Balance at 1 April 1,400 1,722
Charges (credit} to the Profit and Loss Account - lease
provisions 820 (322)
Balance at 31 March 2,220 1,400
The onerous lease provision relates to vacant office space as a consequence of the integration of the
operations In London during 2008 and 2009 The provision tncludes an amount to cover dilapidations
of £205,000 (2008 £440,000) The Company had no other provisions for hablities or charges at the
year-end (2008 ENil)
25 EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL
(in thousands of £) As at 31 March
2009 2008
Authonised
233,306,500 ordinary shares of £0 01 each 2,333 2,333
Called up, allotted and fully paid
8,869,220 ordinary shares of £0 01 each 88 86
On 17 September 2009 the Company converted 225,000 Nil paid shares into 225,000 fully pad
ordinary shares of £0 01 for cash of £900,000 to the existing shareholder of the Nil paid shares The
difference between the norminal value of the shares issued and the consideration received was credited
to the share premum reserve
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Equity shares of the Company are identical, including economic nghts and voting rights  The nghts,
preferences, and restrictions with respect to voting, the distnbution of dividends, and the repayment of
capital are contained 1n the Memorandum and Articles of Association At the balance sheet date, there
were no limitations on the distribution of retained earnings to shareholders other than dependent on
the Company’s loan covenant arrangements No dividends have been paid during the year (2008

none)

Equity-settled share option scheme CIGL had share option schemes for certain executives and
employees of both the Company and CIGL Group Although the Company has no cash or financial
obligations to any party n respect of any options granted by its parent, the services in return for which
such options granted nclude services to the Company and the employment contracts of the option
holders are with the Company, consequently a charge in respect of such options has been recocgmised by
the Company As part of the FX Solutiens LLC acquisitton (see 2008 Directors’ Report) all options were
cancelled The amounts cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2008 resulted n the Company
recognising a charge in that year of £569,000 relating to equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

In April 2008 CIGL 1ssued aptions to certain executives and employees of both the CIHL Group and
CIGL Group on the same terms as previously 1ssued Options were exercisable at a price equal to the
Company’s Directors’ Valuation of its shares on the date of grant The vesting period s three years If
the options remained unexercised after a peried of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire
Options are forfeited If the employee leaves before the options vest

Detalis of the share options outstanding are as follows

As at 31 March 2009 As at 31 March 2008

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number of exercise Number of exercise

share options price {in £) share options price (in £)

Outstanding at beginning of year - - 115,000 16 B6

Granted during the year 99,611 3400 30,977 3400

Forfeited during the year (25,000) 3400 - -

Cancelled during the year - - {145,977) -
Outstanding at the end of the year 74,611 -
Exercisable at the end of the period 74,611 -

The inputs into the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
used to Ffar wvalue the options granted during the
period are as follows

weighted average share price £24 64 £35 34
Weighted average exercise price £34 00 £34 00
Expected volatlity 30% 30%
Expected hife 3 years 4 years
Risk-free rate 53 00% 5 04%
Expected dividends ol Nil

{in thousands of £)

Charge to Profit and Loss Account for the year - 569

In respect of the share options granted during the year no charge has been booked as the Directors’
calculations indicated that any such quantum would be immatenal
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26 PREFERENCE SHARES
(in thousands of £} As at 31 March
Restated
2009 2008
Authorised
150,000,000 (2008 60,333,065) redeemable non-voting
preference shares of £1 00 each 150,000 60,333
Issued and fully paid
106,000,000 (2008 58,000,000) redeemable non-voting
preference shares of £1 00 each 106,000 58,000
Gn 31 March 2007 the Company authorised and issued 58,000,000 £1 redeemable preference shares
to CIHL to finance the acquisition of the UK based business of IFX Markets LUmited and that entity’s
Investment 1n the entire share capital of IFX Markets Inc
On 9 February 2009 the Company increased its authorised redeemable non-voting preference share
capital from 60,333,065 redeemable non-voting preference shares of £1 each to 150,000,000
redeemable non-voting preference share of £1 each
On 9 February 2009 the Company i1ssued 30,000,000 redeemable non-voting preference shares of £1
to CIHL through the capitalisation of £30,000,000 of subordinated loan financing provided to the
Company by CIHL (see Note 23 to the Financial Statements)
On 30 March 2009 the Company i1ssued £18,000,000 redeemable non-voting preference shares of £1 to
CIHL as part of an overall refinancing of the Company The refinanang, 1n conjunction with CIGL, CIHL
and IPGL, consolidated all remaining subordinated debt financing provided by CIHL and IPGL during the
year {see Note 23 to the Financial Statements)
The redeemable preference shares carry a non-cumulative preferential cash dividend at the rate of 2%
per annum above the average base rate of Barclays Bank PLC applicable in the six months penod up to
the date of payment of the dividend The redeemable preference shares carry no voting nghts and are
redeemable at any time at the option of the Company and with the prior consent of the Financial
Services Authority The preference shares rank in priority to the ordinary shares for repayment in the
event of the Company being wound up There 15 no obligation on the Company to redeem or declare
dividends in respect of the preference shares No non-cumulative preferential dividends were declared
by the Company either in general meeting or by its Directors either duning the year or in respect of the
previous year
27 ANALYSIS OF NET FUNDS (DEBT)
(i thousands of £}
At 1 Aprit At 31 March
Note 2008 Cash flow 2009
Cash and cash equivalents 19 71,409 (55,237) 16,172
Debt
Debt due within one (1} year 22 (92,000) 92,000 -
Debt due after one (1) year 23 {8,000) 8,000 -
{100,000} 100,000 -
Financial assets available-for-sale 16 499 {194) 305
Net (debt) funds {28,092) 44 569 16,477
(in thousands of £)
At 1 Apnil At 31 March
2007 Cash flow 2008
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in bank and tn hand 19 56,365 15,044 71,409
Bank overdraft {89) 89 -
56,276 15,133 71,409
Debt
Debt due within one (1) year 22 {30,000) (62,000) (92,000)
Debt due after one (1) year 23 (8,000) - {8,000)
{38,000} (62,000) {(100,000)
Financial assets avallable-for-sate 16 - 499 499
Net funds (debt) 18,276 {46,368) {28,092)
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28 SEGMENT REPORTING
The prnincipal activity of the Company durning the year continued to be the provision of market making
and spread trading services in a vanety of financial products and markets In reporting to the
Company’s Management, the Company’s operating results are prnmarily managed as two (2} distinct
business streams, that 1s, equity or foreign exchange based All activity relates to one geographic area
being Europe, the location where clients transact trades with the Company
The Company allocates income and expenses between the two (2) segments Due to the integrated
nature of the business segments, estimates and judgements have been made in allocating certain
income and expense items, nternal charges and transfer prnicing adjustments are reflected in the
performance of each segment The allocation process 1s consistent with the manner in which the
business of the Company s managed
The segment information presented 1s prepared according to the following broad methodologies
. income and expenses directly associated with each segment are ncluded in determining
segment results,
. income and expenses related to transactions involving multiple segments are allocated at
internally agreed transfer prices or at transaction values,
. corporate includes items that have not been allocated to individual reporting segments and
inter-segment eliminations, and
. assets and liabilities are allocated according to the segment in which they are employed
The Company’s Management believes that the following information by segment provides a reasonable
representation of each segment’s contnbution to the total income and pre-tax profit, and is consistent
with information that 1s used by the Company’s Management 1n its decision-making processes
(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March 2009
Foreign
Business segment Equities exchange Corporate Total
Net trading Income 26,827 7,251 - 34,078
Net fee and commussion income 2,592 795 - 3,387
Net financing income 2,129 567 - 2,696
Total segment income 31,548 8,613 - 40,161
Administration expenses 48,866 7,740 2,616 59,222
Depreciation and amortsation 4,991 524 2,091 7,606
53,857 8,264 4,707 66,828
Exceptional items 12,446 - 2,008 12,222
Total segment administrative expenses 66,303 8,264 6,715 79,050
Operating (loss) profit (34,755) 349 (6,715} {38,889)
Interest income 4,445 1,182 524 6,151
Interest expense (5,718) (1,010) {1,809) (8,537)
Provision against investment 1n subsidiary
company - - {5,327) (5,327)
Segment (loss) profit before tax (36,028) 521 {13,327) (46,602)
Tax credit on loss on ordinary actvites (8,011)
Net loss for the year from operations (54,613)
Percentage of total segment tncome 79% 2i% - 100%
Percentage of segment result before tax {(77%) 1% (29%) {105%)
Segment assets
Trade recevables 47,293 15,340 - 62,633
Other assets 67,176 7,085 21,733 95,994
Segment habilities
Trade payables (55,951) (19,563) - (75,514}
Other habihbies (16,550} {4,371) (3,230) (24,151)
41,968 (1,509) 18,503 58,962
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(in thousands of £)

Business segment

For the year ended 31 March 2008

Foreign

Equities exchange Corporate Taotal
Net trading income 38,037 9,849 - 47,886
Net fee and commission income (expense) 12,103 (1,372} - 10,731
Net financing (expense) income (7,276) 3,735 - (3,541)
Total segmentincome 42,864 12,212 - 55,076
Administration expenses 49,058 5,866 1,413 56,337
Depreciaton and amortisabon 3,004 545 2,091 5,640

52,062 6,411 3,504 61,977
Excephonal items 34,223 - - 34,223
Total segment administrative expenses 86,285 6,411 3,504 96,200
Operating (loss) profit {43,421) 5,801 (3,504) (41,124)
Interest income 6,692 3,638 270 10,600
Interest expense (2,626) (484) (527) (3,637)
Proviston agamnst loss on disposal of
subsidiary companies - - (1,142) (1,142)
Income from shares n group company -
dividend recewved - - 238 238
Segment (loss) profit before tax (39,355) 8,955 (4,665) (35,065)
Tax credit on loss on ordinary activibes 7,298
Net loss for the year from operations (27,767)
Percentage of total segment income 78% 2% - 100%
Percentage of segment result before tax {113%) 26% {13%) (100%)
Segment assets
Trade receivables 142,163 28,912 - 171,075
Other assets 78,034 - 67,799 145,833
Segment hathhties
Trade payables {7,945) (15,806) (95,847) {(119,598)
Other liabilibes (132,725) - - (132,725)

79,527 13,106 (28,048) 64,585

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Partites are generally considered to be related If one party has the ability to control the other party, IS
under common control, or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other party n

making financial and operational decisions

In considering each possible related party relationship

attention 1s directed to its substance not merely the legal form The Company’s immediate parent Is

disclosed in Note 1 to the Financial Statements

During the year the Company entered into transactions, n the ordinary course of business, with other
related parties Transactions entered into, and trading balances cutstanding at the balance sheet date

were as follows

Transactions with related parties

The income and expense items with related parties for the respective years were as follows
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{(in thousands of £) For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Transactions with ultimate parent company,
IPGL:
Net trading loss (367) (43)
Net fee and commission (expense) income 136 292
Net finance income 3,199 (74) |
Interest Income 525 - !
Interest expense (376} (1,692} I

Transactions with CIGL group companies-

Net trading (loss) income 139 279
Net fee and commission (expense) income (4,763) 10
Net finance income 140 -
Interest expense 1,317 -
Net group balances - net income {expense) {50) {(1,228)

Balances with related parties

At the balance sheet dates the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows

(in thousands of £) As at 31 March

2009 2008
Balances with ultimate parent company, IPGL
Trade receivables 289 -
Prepayments and other receivables 650 -
Trade payables - (10,511)
Other payables - (210}

Balances with CIGL group companies

Prepayments and other receivables 43,168 24,937
Trade payables - (510)
Other payables (10,237) {5,997}

Balances with other IPGL group companies |
Other payables - (114) :
I

Net group balances - net receivable 33,870 7,595

In addition to the above, as outlined in Note 23 and Note 26 to the Financial Statements, CIHL, IPGL
and the Company have entered inta certain other transactions detalls of which are contained n the
respective notes

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Expense recharges between related parties are made ¢n an arm's length basis Qutstanding balances
with entities are, unless otherwise specified, unsecured and interest free and placed on intercompany
accounts and are repayable on demand

Transactions with directors’ and key management

There were no transactions with the Directors other than as disclosed n the Directors’ Remuneration
summary detailed in Note 11 to the Financial Statements and the purchase by the CIHL of the minonty ‘
interests shareholdings held by Directors of the Company detaled in Note 11 to the Financial w
Statements and further disclosed in the financial statements of CIHL !
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30 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

» OQOperating leases
At 31 March the Company’s commitments under non-canceflable coperating leases were as

follows
(i thousands of £} For the year ended 31 March
2009 2008
Future annual commitments at balance sheet date n
respect of operating leases relating to land and
buildings (including estimated service charges) which
expire
Within one year - 910
within two to five years inclusive 1,051 2,250
Qver five years 1,986 486
3,037 3,646
Future annual commitments at balance sheet date n
respect of other operating leases which expire
Within one year - 1
Within two to five years inclusive 40 -
40 1

. Capital expenditure

The Company s currently in the process of its continuous upgrade of its information technology
infrastructure in order to meet increased growth and expected demand in the coming years
The cost of this upgrade i1s currently not expected to exceed £10,000,000 The amount of
committed expenditure s £5,000,000 The Company has no other matenal committed
expenditure as of 31 March 2009 (2008 £MNil)

- Contingent habihties

The Company I1s a defendant to several ltigation claims, some of which are for matenal
amounts The Company’s Management believe that claims outstanding as at 31 March 2009
and 31 March 2008 are either without ment, can be successfully defended or will not have a
matenal adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, resuits of operations ar hquidity
On the facts known to the Directors, and supported by legal advice received, the Directors
believe that these disputes and associated costs have been adequately accrued for at the
balance sheet date

There has been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, including any which are
pending or threatened that the Company 1s aware of which may have, or have had in the recent
past, significant effect on Company’s financial position or results of operations or prospects

The Company has provided a bank with a Singapore Dollar 2,000,000 guarantee on behalf of its
wholly owned subsidiary, City Index Asia Pte Limited ("CIAPL”),  connection with a contractual
arrangement the Company has with a joint chent The Company will be hable to the extent of
the guarantee If CIAPL does not perform its obligations

31 EVENTS OCCURRING SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no events occurnng subsequent to the balance sheet date requinng disclosure 1n these
Financial Statements
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